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“An important sector, not only on an economic level, but one 
that serves as the beating pulse, making us Maltese
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Reviving national enthusiasm in volunteering
Throughout our lives, at one time or another, we have 
been directly or indirectly involved in volunteering. 
We grew up in a community where children would 
join as altar boys in the village parish, attend a girl 
guide group, or play football at the local nursery. You 
will find adults of all ages offering their time in the 
village feast, a band club or any other branch within 
the locality. From an early age, without realizing it, 
we have been protagonists in volunteer groups and 
have been surrounded by people who volunteered 
their time.

You may find someone who can contribute to a 
voluntary activity or initiative or you may find others 
who benefit from volunteer work. It has happened 
that, over time, the individuals who gave their time 
for volunteering and who subsequently shaped the 
social formulation of the local villages and of our 
country, began, unfortunately and nevertheless, to 
be considered as amateurs. This could be due to the 
fact that the appreciation and valorisation towards 
one of the main pillars of the Maltese society had 
started to decrease.

The last 2 years, during which we have all lived 
together and felt the abnormal times of the Covid-19 
pandemic, have made us realise that volunteering 
on a national and international scale is still alive and 
needed. At national level, we have experienced a 
number of voluntary organisations offering tens of 
thousands of cooked meals a day. We have seen 
several other voluntary acts by private companies 
where they have assisted and supported the Maltese 
and foreign employees. I cannot fail to mention the 

Commissioner’s 
Statement and Purpose

1

financial injection given by the Government with the 
aim of the voluntary organisations intensifying their 
work to help those who have suffered and are still 
suffering from social and economic consequences. 
This holistic commitment has shown how volunteering, 
activism and altruism are embedded in the genetics 
of the Maltese and Gozitan people.

Ever since I was humbly and unanimously entrusted 
with the post of Commissioner for Voluntary 
Organisations, I have understood that the challenges 
are great, but I have always believed that collectively 
we have been able to rekindle our enthusiasm for 
volunteering and its people. The starting point was 
to restructure the Office of the Commissioner for 
Voluntary Organisations (OCVO) from a cosmetic 
point of view as well as by making the administrative 
changes that put voluntary organisations and 
volunteers at the center of our work.

The first decision we made was to give a new brand to 
this office as well as to launch the renewed purpose 
of this office.

Our Purpose
Recognising the importance of voluntary 
organisations as a main pillar within society and the 
economy, the ultimate mission of the Commissioner’s 
office is to enable this socio-economic pillar of our 
country so they can deliver the social, civil, and 
community benefits. 

As the main regulatory body of the sector, the 
Commissioner’s office encourages and enforces the 
governance of the voluntary organisations and their 
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activities to strengthen and protect the function of 
voluntarism directed towards the achievement of the 
ultimate greater and common good.

Apart from changes in the number of processes 
carried out by this office under the specific 
Directorates, a crucial decision was the establishment 
of the Programmes and Policy Implementation 
Unit. The purpose of this Unit is in fact to assist the 
Commissioner in the successful happening and 
implementation of a number of policy reforms that 
have at heart both the sector as well as society.

I have always believed that volunteering is a vocation 
that bestows you with any satisfaction imaginable. 
That’s why we wanted to change the narrative from 
one that describes volunteers as amateurs to one 
that recognises them as people with a passion. 

2021 closed with a 1713 enrolled voluntary 
organisations. 1713 voluntary organisations offering 
high level services such as those provided by the 
private sector. A number involving tens of thousands 
of volunteers and hundreds of thousands of 
beneficiaries. All this fills us with courage to be the 
shield and guide for the voluntary sector, so that it is 
prepared to take the leap forward. The road to taking 
the next leap together and preparing the sector for 
today’s and tomorrow’s socio-economic needs began 
on 4th December 2021. On the eve of International 
Volunteer Day, we launched the VO Plus National 
Convention, under the auspices of the President of 
Malta His Excellency, Dr. George Vella.

The VO Plus Convention is a national effort that goes 
beyond mere changes in legislation. This national 

effort is bringing and will continue to bring not only the 
entire voluntary sector together, but other sectors that 
can contribute to the strengthening of voluntarism. 
We want this to happen because we believe that no 
voluntary organisation, sector or stakeholder is an 
island and there are great advantages if different 
sectors recognise the differences between them, 
respect them, and build on one another.

Through the VO Plus Convention and the inclusive 
work of all sectors we will start research that will help 
us to be pro-active in anticipating the socio-economic 
needs of the country and those that are served by 
civil society. The research projects, which will be 
carried out by the Faculty of Social Wellbeing and 
which will analyse the voluntary sector, will give us a 
clear direction on how we can better serve, value and 
strengthen the voluntary sector.

From an early age, I had the privilege of being involved 
and savouring the beauty of volunteering. Over the 
years I have come to understand the importance of 
the role that voluntarism plays in the formulation of an 
individual. Today, in my role as Commissioner, I am in 
a position to give back to the voluntary sector a little 
of the many it has given me, throughout my lifetime. 
I humbly hope that my vision and that of the OCVO, 
which we have for the sector, will lead us to ensure 
this is respected in the formulation of what is Malta of 
today and tomorrow. I am convinced that all together, 
collectively, we can sow the seeds of enthusiasm in 
the voluntary sector, because our country deserves a 
strong voluntary sector.

Mr. Jesmond Saliba
Commissioner
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Strategic Report
2

“Eliminate the narrative of amateurism & start looking at 
voluntarism as a pillar that formed the Maltese society



8 OCVO Annual Report 2021
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Overview of year

Enrolment 

Applications
Figures for year 2021 show that applications for 
enrolment with the OCVO have slightly decreased 
compared to last year, but there has been an increase 
in voluntary organisations that have applied to be 
enlisted in the Second Registry. In fact, during 2021, 
a total of 206 new applications (196 for full Enrolment 
and 10 for Enlistment) were submitted compared to 
211 applications that were submitted in year 2020. 
This brings the total of voluntary organisations that 
have applied with the OCVO since the office started 
operating in 2008, to 2,342 applications [2,302 
applications for full enrolment and 40 applications 
for enlistment].

A total of 200 voluntary organisations were fully 
enrolled with the OCVO in 2021, whilst 10 voluntary 
organisations were enlisted in the Second Registry.
A break down to the 200 voluntary organisations that 
were fully enrolled are as follows:
• 2 - voluntary organisations that were requested to 

submit further documents in 2019
• 74 - voluntary organisations that were requested 

to submit further documents in 2020
• 124 - voluntary organisations (out of 206) that have 

applied in 2021 were fully enrolled - 71 voluntary 
organisations were requested to submit further 
documents.

This year, 1 application for full enrolment was carried 
forward to 2022. This shows that the enrolment office 
had another busy year during 2021, during which 
99.51% of the total applications were processed.

Certificates of Enrolment
Hereunder is the breakdown of the 200 certificates of 
enrolment issued by the Enrolment Section monthly 
during the year under review.

January 31
February 13
March 22
April 23
May 26
June 22
July Nil
August 34
September 6
October 5
November 10
December 8

Another 29 certificates were issued during 2021 to 
replace as follows:
i. 3 – typo/spelling mistake on the certificate
ii. 1 – voluntary organisation misplaced/lost the 

original certificate of enrolment (a Notarial 
affidavit submitted to this effect)

iii. 16 – voluntary organisations changed address
iv. 4 –  voluntary organisations changed their name
v. 5 – replacement of the old certificate.

Categories of Enrolled Voluntary Organisations
All voluntary organisations are classified on 
registration according to their social purpose, as in 
the Voluntary Organisations Act – Chapter 492 – 
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Laws of Malta (“VOA”), with some falling under more 
than 1 classification.

A breakdown of all enrolled voluntary organisations, 
by classification as required by the VOA is as follows:

Classification No.VOs %
Philanthropy 241 8.66%
Education and 
Sport

791 
(Sports - 348) 28.44%

Religion 116 4.17%
Health 182 6.54%
Social and 
Community 630 22.66%

Culture, Arts and 
National Heritage

528 (Band 
Clubs - 87) 18.99%

Environment and 
Animal Welfare

116 (Animal 
Welfare - 44) 4.17%

Promotion of 
Human Rights 89 3.20%

Other Social 
Purpose 88 3.17%

Classification No.VOs %

Youths 78 2.80%

Children 75 2.69%

Students’ Organisations 
(University of Malta:  
6th Forms; etc)

36 1.29%

NGOs operating  
from Gozo 139 4.99%

Particular Groups:

Cancellation of Applications
The OCVO has cancelled 13 enrolment applications 
after these voluntary organisations failed to submit 
further documents as required by law. 3 voluntary 
organisations have since then re-applied for 
enrolment with the OCVO and submitted the correct 
documentation.

Winding Up
64 voluntary organisations have winded up during 
2021 and have returned their certificate of enrolment 
to the OCVO as required by law.

Refused
2 applications for enrolment with the OCVO were 
refused.

Enrolment Terminated
29 enrolled voluntary organisations had their 
enrolment terminated by the OCVO for failing to 
submit their annual returns on a yearly basis as 
required by law.

Although these voluntary organisations were formally 
and repeatedly requested to regulate their position at 
law, they remained in default till the present day. In fact, 
although the OCVO has exhausted all that is required 
in article 14(4) of the VOA, the office was left with 
no option other than cancelling the listed voluntary 
organisations from the Register. This cancellation 
order was issued in accordance to article 13(5) of the 
VOA, that states “if the Commissioner determines, 
after enrolment under this article, that the element of 
a public purpose or public benefit in terms of these 
provisions is absent in the relevant organisation, he 
may by notice in writing, order the suspension or 
the cancellation of the enrolment of the voluntary 
organisation by the issue of a Suspension Order or 
a Cancellation Order, as appears appropriate in the 
circumstances.”

Enlistment
When the VOA was amended in November 2018, a 
Second Registry came into force. This is known as 
“Enlistment”.

Voluntary organisations that qualify to be enrolled 
with the OCVO, but have an income of less that 
€5,000 annually, may make a request to the OCVO 
to enlist themselves in the Second Registry. Voluntary 
organisations that are enlisted in the Second Registry 
do not qualify for Governmental funds, projects or 
any other issues that the Government may make 
from time to time.

Voluntary organisations that do not qualify to be fully 
enrolled with the OCVO may be requested by the 
Commissioner to enlist themselves in the Second 
Registry, irrespective of the gross income generated 
that may have been generated.

Since 1st January 2019, 40 voluntary organisations 
have been enlisted in the Second Registry. 1 voluntary 
organisation has since then winded up, whilst 2 
voluntary organisations applied to be fully enrolled in 
the First Registry.
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A breakdown of enlisted voluntary organisations are 
as follows:
• 17 voluntary organisations were enlisted in 2019
• 13 voluntary organisations were enlisted in 2020 

(this includes 1 voluntary organisation that did not 
qualify to be fully enrolled but had the qualities to 
be enlisted in the Second Registry)

• 10 voluntary organisations were enlisted in 2021.

Compliance and Annual Returns
The work of the Compliance and Annual Returns 
Directorate is regulated by the Subsidiary Legislation 
492.02 (Annual Returns and Annual Accounts 
Regulations). The aim of these regulations is to ensure 
transparency and accountability in the preparation 
and submission of annual returns and annual 
accounts by voluntary organisations, carrying out 
activities intended to achieve the principal purpose 
and objectives of such voluntary organisations.

This report is based on the submissions for 2020.

Submitted Annual Returns
1,255 voluntary organisations submitted their annual 
returns for 2020. The OCVO has vetted nearly 800 
sets of annual returns and subsequently issued 
compliance certificates.

Taking into consideration the effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic on the sector, this result is another example 
of the commitment of the voluntary organisations to 
their work.

Personnel
During 2021, the team increased its members with 
3 officers and another 2 managers. Other personnel 
are expected to join in 2022.

Legal Services 

The Granting of Affidavits
The granting of affidavits has now been established at 
the OCVO. The Legal Services Directorate assisted in 

the compiling, drafting, and attesting to 44 affidavits 
for voluntary organisations that were winding up, 
while 9 were made due to loss of certificates of 
enrolment or other documents. 3 affidavits were made 
for administrators of voluntary organisations that 
were not enrolled with the OCVO. This latter system 
was introduced for voluntary organisations that were 
traced through media monitoring and hence instead 
of instituting legal proceedings, the administrators 
declared that they will not pursue with the voluntary 
organisation which had no formal structures or assets 
of any kind. The procedure was also crystallised by 
including a declaration that if any time in the future 
the person would set up a voluntary organisation, 
enrolment would be applied for immediately.

Legal Recommendations
In 2021 there were 8 of these recommendations that 
were submitted following intense research and clear 
interpretation of laws, even not directly related to 
voluntary organisations themselves.

Refusal of Administrators
During 2021, 3 administrators were informed by a 
registered legal letter that they cannot hold such 
position. The reasons for these refusals included the 
prohibitions set by the Second Schedule of the Civil 
Code – Chapter 16 – Laws of Malta (“Civil Code) and 
others that were based on the before mentioned 
Code of Good Governance.

Requests for Assistance and Support from the 
Public
Although the OCVO has a regulatory function, the 
Commissioner constantly offers support to those 
voluntary organisations that require assistance. 
During 2021 there were many requests from the 
public for assistance on queries related to voluntary 
organisations. In fact, in 2022 it is envisaged that 
requests from the public are more organised, so 
the number of issues referred to are documented. 
Besides conversations on the phone, 11 official 
meetings were held with whole committees. Walk-in 
meetings from administrators were also not recorded.

“Voluntary organisations that do not qualify 
to be fully enrolled with the OCVO may be 
requested by the Commissioner to enlist 
themselves in the Second Registry,
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Requests for Assistance from other Directorates
As in previous years, the bulk of workload was the 
daily requests for assistance from other Directorates, 
mainly the Compliance and Annual Returns 
Directorate. In fact, requests varied from once to 
twice a day. This obviously creates a strain on the 
Legal Services Directorate, but it is understood 
that there are many issues that need legal counsel. 
However, it is envisaged that in 2022, such issues 
would be first queried with the Director of the relative 
Directorate, then documented on a table so such 
statistics for referrals are kept for record purposes.

Asset Tracing Procedures
The OCVO did not issue any Asset Tracing 
Investigations in 2021 as any clarifications that 
were required were provided by the voluntary 
organisations themselves. This process, which was 
carried out by the Compliance and Annual Returns 
Directorate in collaboration with the Legal Services 
Directorate proved to be a better system and less 
cumbersome than a fully-fledged asset tracing 
investigation.

Winding Up of Voluntary Organisations
The assistance to voluntary organisations wishing 
to wind up was continued in order to have the 
process coordinated fully according to law. Many 
administrators had the wrong impression that if a 
voluntary organisation was inactive for a long period 
of time, it would cease to exist. Hence, with the 
resolution template it was ensured, together with 
monitoring of the dissolution process ensured that 
remaining funds would be given to enrolled and 
complaint voluntary organisations as dictated by the 
Code of Good Governance. Resolutions were signed 
by no less than 75% of the same administrators, as 
required by the Second Schedule of the Civil Code. 
In 2021, 58 voluntary organisations winded up with 
the assistance of the Legal Services Directorate 
so the procedure was made in a transparent and 
organised manner. In fact, thanks to this important 
but understandingly very time-consuming exercise, 
€57,340.37 were given to other enrolled and 
compliant voluntary organisations while €3,907.41 
were deposited in the Voluntary Organisation 
Fund. Hence a total of stagnant €60,922.13 were 
recovered from such voluntary organisations to be 
utilised for the benefit of the sector.

Cancellation of Voluntary Organisations from 
the Register
According to article 13(5) of the VOA, voluntary 
organisations that are not operating according to 

law and hence their public benefit or public purpose 
can be considered as lacking, can be cancelled from 
the Register. This procedure also commenced for 
the first time in 2020 and was continued in 2021. 

As in the previous year, the procedure adopted 
and devised by the Legal Services Directorate 
was that first an investigation with open-source 
checks is carried out to ascertain that the voluntary 
organisation is still not active. Then checks are 
made on the administrators to see if they are 
operating any commercial entity on the same lines 
or if they are pursuing the objectives of the voluntary 
organisation personally. Once no activity of any sort 
is found, a letter is then sent to the OCVO explaining 
all the research carried out. The options available 
to the OCVO are either suspension or cancellation 
of the voluntary organisation when a voluntary 
organisation is inactive and does not come forward 
for voluntary winding up. Following receipt of the 
letter and a report of the investigation carried out, 
29 voluntary organisations cancelled, and such 
cancellations were published in the Government 
Gazette.

Legal Letters for Compliancy
2021 followed the previous year in terms of legal 
letters sent for compliancy. The Commissioner 
instructed the Compliance and Annual Returns 
Directorate to send a list of non-compliant 
voluntary organisations so legal letters are sent to 
administrators. As legal letters are personal to the 
individual receiving them, no bulk mail was sent but 
each letter was sent personally to the address of the 
administrator. In all a staggering 753 letters were 
sent to administrators in 2021. A point worth noting 
is that many administrators called to state that they 
should not have been written to as they were not the 
president or treasurer. However, it was explained 
to each person that called that all administrators 
were jointly responsible for the performance of 
the voluntary organisation and this misconception 
needed to be addressed.

In May 2021 the Legal Services Directorate was 
informed that letters for compliancy were sent to 
administrators that were not in their role at the time. 
When the system was checked, it was found that 
although returns were submitted, they did appear 
in file or on system. Hence, from May 2021 all legal 
letters sent had to be accompanied by a declaration 
from the Compliance and Annual Returns Directorate 
that the system and physical file of the voluntary 
organisation were checked.
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Administrative Assistance
Besides offering legal services in connection with the 
regulatory function of the OCVO, the Legal Services 
Directorate must assist with any administrative 
issues that may be required from the Commissioner 
and the OCVO. Examples where the Legal Services 
Directorate was involved are drafting/amending of a 
Service Level Agreement, MITA Service Contract and 
the contract of lease for the new office building.

Court Cases
Court cases were not instituted in 2021 as satisfactory 
levels of compliancy were achieved together with 
conclusion of issues without the necessity of court 
action. However, the OCVO’s lawyer was required to 
attend 3 court sittings on behalf of the Commissioner 
in 2 Civil cases and 1 Criminal case. Another case 
involved a warrant of prohibitory injunction filed 
against the Commissioner to stop him from accepting 
the winding up of a voluntary organisation.

Mandatory Enrolment
In 2021, these procedures were moved to the 
Investigations & Monitoring, Enrollment, Finance 
& Services, Public Collections & Charity Shops 
Directorate. The concept adopted was so that legal 
services in this regard will be centralised in 1 section 
and not be shifted under 2 Directorates.

A new winding up in process database was made 
so Directorates will also be aware of any voluntary 
organisation that is in the process of winding up 
and save sending any reminders to any voluntary 
organisation that has started the process of winding 
up. Email archives were also added into the 
generic email, so in case of change of the voluntary 
organisation’s staff, emails would not be lost but kept 
in the respective folder according to subject. In all 35 
main folders were made in the generic email which 
are further divided into sub-archives.

Investigations 

Introduction
2021 proved to be quite challenging to the 
Investigations and Monitoring Section in view of 
the FATF grilling held during the month of May. 
The requests on this Section intensified during 
the year pre and post FATF grilling, which meant 
that the Section was constantly under pressures to 
perform. August also saw a change in leadership 
with the change of the Commissioner. This translated 
into a period of transitioning. During this period, 
the National Coordinating Committee (NCC) on 

Combatting Money Laundering and Funding of 
Terrorism also requested the review and the reform 
of the National Risk Assessment to comply with FATF 
requirements. This meant that the Section also had to 
undergo an intense period of analysis and reporting 
in cooperation with the Compliance and Annual 
Returns Directorate to reform the OCVO’s risk-based 
approach. All this work paid off and during the last 
NCC meeting, the OCVO was praised extensively 
for the work done. Further work on the National Risk 
Assessment will continue in 2022 as directed by the 
NCC. Indeed, the challenges of 2021 were met, and 
the Section managed to deliver the much-needed 
results. We will continue working further in our part 
together with all the rest of the competent authorities 
within the national effort to exit the FATF Grey-Listing.

Media Monitoring
In the year 2020, the Investigations and Monitoring 
Section was better equipped to carry out full 
monitoring of the media, both conventional as well as 
social. This very important process continued being 
consolidated in 2021. The manager in charge was 
able to detect various voluntary organisations that 
were not enrolled who were subject to mandatory 
enrolment by law. One major positive outcome of 
this procedure was that the number of non-enrolled 
voluntary organisations decreased considerably 
along the year 2020 and 2021 which is a strong 
indicator that this process is indeed working. During 
the FATF reporting last May, this procedure carried 
out by the OCVO was praised on more than one 
occasion. It was one of the main areas where the 
OCVO was judged as being effective. 

Throughout the year 2021, 30 potential voluntary 
organisations were found and contacted. 22 
voluntary organisations were found to be subject to 
mandatory enrolment while 8 were not. As it stands 
today, 2 have enrolled and another 2 are in the 
process of applying. 

The rest were forwarded for legal action together 
with others from the previous year. 

Further to that, it is to be pointed out that in total 855 
articles were found, scanned, saved and uploaded 
onto our website. 

Objective
To monitor the promotion of voluntary organisations 
and the behaviour of their administrators so as 
to ensure the observance of high standards of 
accountability and transparency, as well as their 
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compliance with law, through online and hardcopy 
articles. 

List of hardcopy and online media covered
The following is a list of Newspapers which are 
handed to the Media Monitoring Section daily:
• Times of Malta
• Sunday Times
• Independent
• Sunday Independent
• It-Torca
• Il-Kullhadd
• l-Orizzont
• In-Nazzjon
• Il-Mument
• Malta Business Weekly
• Illum
• Lehen
• MaltaToday

Online Media:
• Parliamentary Questions and Answers
• Government Gazette
• Press Releases
• Lovin Malta
• Gwida
• Facebook
• Newsbook
• Bay Radio
• Gozo News
• The Shift
• iNewsMalta
• Net News
• TVM 
• MaltaSport
• SportMalta
• Any other online material

Due Diligence 
2021 proved to be a challenging year also in this 
regard. In the year 2020, the Section was requested 
to input all the lists of administrators in the LEXCO KYC 
portal by the end of November of that year. The work 
was a monumental one and with only 3 persons doing 
the inputting, we only managed to conclude this work 
around the end of February 2021. It was evident from 
the start that this inputting was problematic because 
many of the voluntary organisations had not filed 
their annual returns and therefore, a considerable 
number of lists of administrators were out-dated. In 
September 2020 the decision was taken to input only 
those voluntary organisations which had the lists up 
to 2017. The rest of the voluntary organisations would 
be contacted by the Legal Services Directorate to 
send in their annual returns as they were required by 
the law. It was around June 2021 that it was becoming 
evident that even the lists inputted from 2017 
onwards were in fact outdated! This meant that some 
work had to be repeated in terms of inputting and 
screening. The manager in charge of this inputting 
liaised with an administrative officer and took charge 
of the difficult task of amending this issue. We can 
now say that we are at an advanced stage in these 
required amendments. The way forward now is 
that of updating administrator lists in real time. 
The Compliance and Annual Returns Directorate 
is currently preparing a weekly list of change in 
administrators and these are then inputted and 
updated accordingly. The due diligence procedures 
which took full-force through a three-tier system in 
January 2020, constitute a fundamental role in the 
risk-based approach, especially in safeguarding 
voluntary organisations from internal risks of abuse. 
Any adverse remarks on a voluntary organisation 
or an individual is investigated, and the appropriate 
decisions are taken as contemplated by law. 

Investigations
During the year 2021 there were also some minor 
investigations that the OCVO had to carry out. 
The first one included an animal welfare voluntary 
organisation that was being accused by former 
members of gross mismanagement that also resulted 
in the mistreatment of animals. The involved voluntary 
organisation had a contract with a Government 
institution and upon further inquiry, the relevant 
Government institution stated that the sanctuary that 
was run in its premises was up to standards. The 
Commissioner for Animal Welfare was also aware of 
this case.

“To monitor the promotion 
of voluntary organisations 
and the behaviour of their 
administrators so as to ensure 
the observance of high 
standards of accountability 
and transparency,
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A case that continued being tackled from 2020 
concerned an individual who was indefinitely 
suspended from a voluntary organisation. The 
complainant claimed that he was unjustly suspended. 
The OCVO investigated the matter, particularly 
as regards whether the treatment was too harsh. 
Again, allegations were being flung and it transpired 
that this was another case of an internal conflict. 
The Commissioner decided to appoint a board of 
mediation as contemplated by Article 27(1)(b) of the 
VOA. Another mediatory meeting was held in October 
and the voluntary organisation continued insisting on 
its decision. The Commissioner forwarded the case 
to an expert for external advice.

Another investigation involved a voluntary 
organisation that works with migrants in Malta. The 
high-risk factor that such a voluntary organisation 
brings with it meant that the OCVO had to look 
attentively into the matter. Again, however, the issue 
appears to be primarily that of an internal conflict, with 
various allegations being flung by the complainant, 
some of which were of a serious nature. The OCVO 
liaised with the police requesting further information 
also from foreign counterparts. The police could not 
confirm any of the allegations that were being made 
by the complainant and informed the OCVO that 
searches with foreign counterparts did not reveal 
any adverse remarks. Although the case cannot be 
considered as closed, without any concrete proof 
from the complainant the OCVO was not in a position 
to continue further with the investigation. All attempts 
to contact the complainant were in vain as the 
complainant never replied to the OCVO’s requests 
for further information. 

The fourth investigation concerned a Christian 
church voluntary organisation that has its mother 
organisation in Kenya. The local pastor filed a 
complaint via email against some former members 
of his church alleging that they were “usurping” the 
name of his church and were collecting money and 
meeting in a Catholic parish that had offered them 
its premises. The OCVO contacted the parish priest 
who informed us that even though the church was 
not Catholic, he felt duty bound to try and mediate 
between the two in true Christian spirit. He had 
offered the “dissenters” the parish premises to be 
able to meet and worship. The OCVO obtained the 
contact details of the “dissenters” from the parish 
priest and contacted them informing them that if they 
planned to continue as a separate group from the 
original, they would have to change the name of their 
church and enrol as a different and separate voluntary 

organisation. This minor group came to the office and 
informed the OCVO that they were part of a larger 
international organisation that is based in Kenya, and 
that they are strictly speaking part of the same group 
with different branches. The Malta branch was being 
requested to form another missionary subgroup to 
evangelise and reach out more. The OCVO sent an 
email in reply to the complainant informing him about 
the development of the investigation and asking 
whether he was aware of such instructions from the 
mother church. The complainant never replied.

A fifth investigation involved a complaint that an 
animal lover filed against a local sanctuary operating 
in Marsascala. The complainant was asking how such 
a small sanctuary could be allowed to collect money 
when it is so limited in space and in the number of 
animal rescues. The complainant was asking whether 
there could be any misuse of funds. In this case 
the annual report and accounts where scrutinised 
and it transpired that the reporting corroborated 
what the complainant had stated, namely that the 
voluntary organisation was very small and catered 
for a handful of rescued animals. The funds collected 
were in proportion to the activities held and the 
accounts gave a full view of the activities being held. 
The complainant was informed that the voluntary 
organisation had only collected a small amount of 
money and that its reporting corroborated with what 
the complainant had observed in terms of the size 
of the voluntary organisation’s operation. There was, 
therefore, no reason to suspect any misuse of funds. 
The case was closed.

The sixth and final investigation was triggered via a 
complaint against a local foundation that manages 
a private school. The complainant stated that he 
had resigned from the board of administrators 
because the foundation was not being administered 
transparently and there were clear conflicts of interest 
for some members of the board. The complainant also 
informed the OCVO that the voluntary organisation 
was not enrolled with the OCVO as it is obliged to do 
as per legislation. The OCVO passed the case to the 
Legal Services Section for legal considerations as to 
how best to proceed with the case. The case is still 
open.

The OCVO also collaborated with the police when 
requests for information were filed. There were 5 
such requests filed with the OCVO in 2021. In these 
instances, the OCVO prepared a short resume on 
what the request required, and the relevant files 
were scanned and sent to the police.
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FATF Reporting 
The major change to the Investigations and 
Monitoring Section came in February 2021, when 
the Commissioner requested the full involvement 
of the Section in the FATF reporting. This translated 
into hundreds of hours of meetings both internally as 
well as on national level in the preparation for the 
FATF reporting. The months of April, May, and June, 
were primarily dedicated to this collective effort. 
The Section was also involved in various outreach 
initiatives both on national television as well as on 
radio to educate the people about the risks and risk-
mitigation that voluntary organisations should adopt 
to protect themselves. The Section also participated 
in the outreach initiatives organised by the OCVO, 
preparing detailed presentations on risks and risk-
mitigation. During the months of August, September 
and October, the Section liaised with other sections 
of the OCVO in amending the Risk Based Approach 
of the OCVO, as part of the preparation of the revised 
National Risk Assessment. It was a great honour to 
see the efforts of the OCVO being praised at NCC 
level.

Public Collections and Charity Shops
During 2021 the Public Collections and the Charity 
Shops Section continued its mission to guide 
voluntary organisations so that they are in line with 
the legislation. 

During the first quarter of the year a set of regulations 
and documents were drafted and dispersed to 
all voluntary organisations. FAQs were answered 
however the new legislation was not harmoniously 
met by the voluntary organisations lamenting over 
several issues which required changes. Online 
seminars were effected with voluntary organisations 
resulting to be more critical towards the new 
legislation. Alas the legislation was again revised 
and amended on 9th November 2021 through Legal 
Notice 424/2021 and Legal Notice 425/2021. 

To this effect, this office started drafting new rules to 
guide the voluntary organisations, for them to be in 
line by the 7th January 2022 as decided. 

In order to plan ahead for the voluntary organisations 
to be in line with legislation, the following were 
drafted and carried out:
1. KPI’s/ SOP’s drawn enlisting all target dates and 

goals to be reached
2. Compliant Operating procedures for the Charity 

Shops
3. Complaint forms for Charity Shops

4. A set of requirements for voluntary organisations 
for ease of reference of all voluntary organisations 
and at hand for the assistance to strengthen them 
in their practices to collate public collections, 
fundraising, and running of charity shops

5. An ongoing exercise to outreach the voluntary 
organisations and charity shops administrators, 
assisting them to finalise tasks and conclude 
legal requirements.

This Section is guiding all voluntary organisations to 
be in line with legislation, assisting and strengthening 
all involved following the legal amendments/
introductions whilst also keeping up with monitoring 
to avoid/detect any illegal events.

During the interim period until the legislation 
amendments were finalised, the Section assisted 
the Enrolment Section, managing to vet, file and 
enrol 92 applications received by the office. 
Further to this, other various tasks were concluded, 
such as summarising previous investigative files, 
daily administrative duties that cropped up, daily 
replies and reports drafted via mail to voluntary 
organisations, departmental queries, as well as 
several administrative meetings, public meetings, 
meetings with voluntary organisations and providing 
advice to the administrators.

Human Resources Management
Human Resources Management, which falls under 
the Strategy and Support Directorate had a very 
busy year in 2021.  Over the past year we’ve talked 
about struggles, challenges, opportunities, and 
perseverance. But, as we reflect on 2021, it seems 
appropriate to acknowledge once again what a year 
it has been, bringing with it various changes in the 
leadership and operations of this office. 

We can breathe a collective sigh of relief that hopefully 
the worst of this Covid-19 pandemic is behind us. It 
was far from a normal year, which included challenges 
in working in a pandemic but staff exemplified the “D” 
words of Dedication, Drive and Determination where 
resilience, flexibility and understanding was shown.  
This was a true example of taking some lemons and 
making lemonade.

The Human Resources Section (HR) has primary 
responsibility for managing, assisting and dealing 
with all employee related matters including such 
functions as policy administration, recruitment 
process, benefits administration, employment and 
labour laws, new employee orientation, training and 
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development, labour relations, personnel records 
retention,  administration, and assisting employees 
in their needs.  In fact HR works closely with the 
Commissioner and the Directors to support and 
respond to their needs. HR handles a variety of work 
products and creates and processes several different 
documents. 

The basic mission of HR was to acquire, develop, and 
retain talent, align the workforce with the OCVO’s 
various sections and be a good contributor to the 
OCVO. Knowing that human resources are the most 
important assets of a voluntary organisation, OCVO 
could not be successful without effectively managing 
this resource. 

Workforce Planning and Employment
2021 has been challenging where it comes to 
capacity building. The HR focus of this office was 
almost exclusively on recruiting and on-boarding 
new staff after the necessary budget was approved 
by the Ministry for Finance. The increase in the staff 
complement represented a substantial organisational 
change, and this was delivered through a structured 
HR Plan which this office built. The structural change 
was from top management to junior positions.

This office wanted to ensure sufficient staffing levels 
to accomplish its work processes and successfully 
deliver its services to all of its customers. Following 
the re-structuring exercise held in 2019 with the 
creation of 4 Directorates, the HR Section was tasked 
with filling vacancies in these Directorates according 
to the approved HR plan and within the budget 
provided by the Ministry for Finance, following 
Directive 7.

In all 18 employees were recruited. With the 
enactment of amendments to the VOA and its 
subsidiary legislations, regulations and Moneyval 
related work, legal work to effectively regulate the 
voluntary sector has substantially increased.   In this 
regard a call was issued for a Senior Manager (Legal 
Services) to provide the Commissioner, with effective 
legal advice on the work carried out on issues related 
with the sector, particularly on Public Collections and 
Charity Shops subsidiary legislation, enrolment and 
other legal advice. This position was filled in April 
2021.

To equip the Compliance and Annual Returns 
Directorate, calls were issued for 2 Managers 
(Compliance and Annual Returns).  Work in this 
Directorate is very important to vet the annual returns 
and accounts submitted by voluntary organisations, 
issue compliance certificates and monitor the 
activities of voluntary organisations through their 
accounts and reports submitted for better regulation 
of the sector, which is one of the main functions of 
the OCVO.  Compliant voluntary organisations can 
receive or be the beneficiary of grants, sponsorships 
or any other financial aid from the Government, 
or be the beneficiary of any policies supporting 
voluntary organisations or be a party to Government 
contracts in accordance with article 4 of the VOA. 
Both vacancies were filled. Moreover, 2 support staff 
assisting managers in their day-to-day work were 
also recruited.

On the enactment of the Charity Shops Regulations 
Subsidiary Legislation 492.04 and Public Collections 
Regulations, Subsidiary Legislation 492.03, the 
Charity Shops and Public Collections Sections were 
formed. In this regard public calls for Managers 
(Charity Shops) and Managers (Public Collections) 
were issued to work on the provisions of the law. 2 
Managers (Charity Shops) and 2 Managers (Public 
Collections) were in fact recruited. These managers 
were responsible to ensure that the voluntary sector, 
which is dominated by fiduciary obligations towards 
public benefit purposes having social needs, operates 
according to high standards of administration and 
in a manner that is transparent and accountable to 
public scrutiny, and is not abused and becomes a 
tool for criminality such as fraud, money-laundering, 
or financing of terrorism.
 
With the growing number of staff and IT requirements, 
the IT Section was understaffed and required a 
manager to manage the OCVO’s website and 
manage and control the provision of ICT services.  A 

“The basic mission of HR 
was to acquire, develop, 
and retain talent, align the 
workforce with the OCVO’s 
various sections and be 
a good contributor to the 
OCVO. 
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call for applications was issued and this position was 
filled in March 2021.

10 support officers were recruited to support 
directors, senior managers, and managers in their 
day-to day administrative work.  

Staff movements included that of a Senior Manager 
(Legal Services) who was detailed with another 
Government entity, 2 managers and 1 officer who 
took on a Secretariat Contract with a Ministry.

Performance Appraisals
An ongoing task is the processing of performance 
appraisals of staff who are on a performance bonus 
agreement. Notifications are sent out to Directors 
and then processed through the Commissioner and 
Permanent Secretary.

Employment Issues
The HR staff assists Directors and other staff in a 
number of employment related issues, including 
recruitment, termination, work-life balance matters, 
various HR procedures, vacation leave, sick leave, 
forms, documents and other personnel related 
matters. 

Programmes and Policy Implementation Unit
In November the Programmes and Policy 
Implementation Unit was set up with the aim of 
reviewing the current structure of the office, making 
the necessary reforms, assisting the Commissioner 
to reach specific office targets, refining policies 
where necessary and other work related to project 
management of crucial projects.  

Workforce Capacity 
During 2021, the workforce of the office grew to meet 
the various legislative demands.  OCVO’s task is to 
ensure sufficient staffing levels to accomplish its work 
processes and successfully deliver its services to our 
customers and meet the various demands. The HR 
Section  assists in the workforce capacity planning to 
determine and  plan the  workforce  to ensure that 
OCVO will have the right mix and numbers of staff, 
with the right skills and knowledge, to meet the 
current and future demand. 

The demands on the services offered by this office 
and requirements by Moneyval and FATF continue to 
rise. Moreover, the VOA and its subsidiary legislations 
require staff to improve on the good work already 
being carried out. This office continues to tackle 
these challenges through rigorous prioritisation 

and business planning, however, given the rise in 
demand for this office’s services, this continues to be 
a challenge on the regulator’s office. The HR Section 
will continue working in the coming year to meet 
such HR demands.

Human Resource Development
The HR Section worked to develop its human 
resources by assisting OCVO’s employees develop 
their skills, knowledge, and abilities, which in turn is 
helping to improve this office’s effectiveness. Training 
and development is usually initiated for a variety of 
reasons for an employee or group of employees, 
e.g. when a performance appraisal indicates 
performance improvement is needed, as part of an 
overall professional development programme and 
as part of succession planning and training about a 
specific topic to upgrade the knowledge and skills in 
a particular specialised area amongst others.

Training given to staff was both formal or informal, 
and began with the onboarding of new employees. 
Informal learning included, coaching by managerial 
staff, mentoring by more experienced employees and 
collaborating with highly trained colleagues.  On the 
other hand, formal development included attending 
to courses mainly organised by the Institute for the 
Public Services, which included classroom and online 
training, private institutions courses and internal 
training provided by staff. 

Training given to employees not only upgraded 
the knowledge in particular areas but also assisted 
employees to sharpen their skills and change attitude 
so that their overall performance was enhanced.  

Training programmes attended by staff included the 
following subject matter: 
• Anti-Money laundering and financing of Terrorism
• Information Technology, Computing, ICT and 

Business Analyst Development courses
• Accounts
• Senior Management and other various 

management courses
• Risk Management
• Public Management Toolkit
• Report Writing
• Minute Taking 
• Assistant Principal and Principal courses.  

Staff members also followed Diploma level and 
Higher Diploma courses in Management and IT and 
also tertiary level academic courses.
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OCVO supports the training of its employees and 
considers it as an important aspect in HR development 
and encourages its employees to continue to develop 
their skills which will help to motivate staff.  Motivated 
staff experience higher job satisfaction. 

HR development also provides the means to prepare 
employees for advancement in their career. A trained 
workforce performs better, is prepared for higher 
responsibilities, needs less supervision and is an 
asset to the office. Employees carry out a better 
job and this will reflect in the performance of the 
office to achieve its goals. The importance of having 
a trained workforce was emphasised both by the 
National Audit Office in their report on the OCVO 
and Moneyval.   Training will help with the operating 
needs of OCVO and its future needs.

HR Outlook for 2022
HR strategies and plans for this office will focus on 
the needs and challenges this office will be facing 
in the future to meet the legislative and regulatory 
requirements. The office will continue building and 
improving its current talent to reform and meet these 
challenges, as employees are key to the success of 
the office.

In last 2 years, Covid-19 overshadowed a number of 
things including work practices. It became apparent 
during the pandemic that  skills, flexibility  and 
meeting challenges fuel business transformation 
and organisational resilience. Nevertheless, there 
is increasing pressure on HR to develop from an 
operational, administrative function to a strategic, 
technological and transformational function, which 
OCVO is looking at.

IT 
The IT Section which falls under the responsibility of 
the Strategy and Support Directorate, oversees the 
installation and maintenance of computer network 
systems within the office. Its primary function is to 
plan the IT requirements of the office, IT budgeting, 
drafting technical specifications to procure IT 
equipment, ensure that the network runs smoothly, 
administration work related to IT, work on various 
IT projects including website and seeing to the 
everyday IT requirements of the office. 

The IT Section had a year full of challenges during 
2021, both because of the Covid-19 pandemic but 
mostly due to the several challenges brought by the 
necessary move of premises, to a new one in Hamrun, 
the introduction of several new services and also 

current and new projects leading to the necessary 
IT reforms that need to take place. To meet these 
demands, 2 staff members were recruited to join the 
IT Section, namely, Manager (Systems Administrator) 
and Support Administration Officer.  Together 
with these employees, the IT Section has a Senior 
Administrative Officer on IT Services. These 3 officers 
are working on various IT projects to implement the 
various IT reforms taking place. 

Telework
The Floriana Premises were too small to cater for a 
workforce of 45 people. Apart from this, the Covid-19 
issue and regulations issued by health authorities, 
which we needed to follow, posed a number of 
challenges on the IT Section. Hence the staff was 
shifted to work from home on a roster basis. For this 
reason, ensuring that the laptops are working well, 
and that VPN connection worked efficiently, was of 
utmost importance. The IT staff ensured that all staff 
will be able to work efficiently at home by carrying 
out regular tests, besides catering for assistance 
requested by the staff working from home, on 
premises in Floriana and the continuous demands of 
the contractors working in the new premises at the 
same time.

The new premises
From the IT side there was a lot of work to be carried 
out to equip the new premises with the necessary IT 
infrastructure. This included installation from scratch 
of the whole network infrastructure, new fibre optic, 
CCTV system, theft alarm system, HR system and 
WiFi system among others.  In January, discussions 
held with MITA paved the way forward for the IT 
requirements of the new premises for such building to 
cater for a maximum workforce of 70 people. The first 
quarter of 2021 was mostly dedicated to the planning 
of the IT infrastructure in line with the latest network 
infrastructure, procuring of IT related equipment 
(network switches, patch cables), installation and 
monitoring of the installation process, termination 
of network points into the network switches and 
successful testing of the CAT6 IT infrastructure which 
made it possible to move smoothly from Floriana to 
Hamrun office on the 22nd June 2021. To ensure a 
safe network connection, WiFi access points for WiFi 
network coverage around the whole building was 
procured in October through the MITA Framework 
agreement.

Staff entered the new premises working efficiently 
from the very first day with very fast internet and 
without network disruptions. In due course, the move 
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and such works were carried out with care whilst 
ensuring the least negative impact on voluntary 
organisations and on OCVO staff. At the same time 
the IT Section was also in charge of the Digitisation 
Project, and the Website Project with 6 students 
assisting in the digitisation project by scanning 
documents. 

The website project
In the last annual report, our target was to proceed 
with the last phase of the development of the 
website project. However, in order to proceed with 
the right procurement procedure, this took quite a 
while until all procurement in relation to the Service 
Level Agreement was finalised properly. Apart from 
the services that have been developed over the 
past years, this year was mostly focused on ensuring 
enhancing an efficient service. For this reason, the 
IT (and OCVO) embarked on a reformative process 
whereby online services offered by OCVO, will 
be more VO centric. Hence for this reason we are 
developing the concept of the VO Plus website, 
whereby website development in this area was 
initiated and is progressing well. 

Procurement of IT Equipment 
Apart from the network infrastructural works, the 
new building had to be equipped with an efficient 
telephone system. For this reason, following a market 
research, 2 calls for quotations for the provision of a 
PBX system and SIP trunks installations respectively 
were issued and awarded.
 
The IT Section and the Procurement Section worked 
on various call for quotations and tenders to purchase 
equipment for the general use of the office and staff 
to work efficiently.

Administration of IT work
On the recruitment of an officer to assist the IT Section 
in administration work, several procedures were 
implemented to re-organise the work.   In order to 
improve inventory work on IT equipment, declaration 
forms were introduced, whereby employees sign for 
equipment received and returned.

Declarations are signed by an IT Officer and the officer 
handing over the IT asset, the officer receiving the 
IT Asset and the line Director. The same procedure 
applies when officers return the IT asset, with the 
difference that IT Officers check if the returned asset 
is in good condition or otherwise. The MITA Inventory 
number, serial number, description of asset and the 
date of receipt of the equipment given or returned, 
the ID card number and CORP username are all 
included in the declarations.

Another declaration has been created entailing the 
IT Assets being transferred to the new premises, i.e., 
from Floriana to Hamrun offices.

IT Inventory
Apart from the above-mentioned administration 
work, the IT Administration Officer also worked on a 
project to update and re-organise the IT inventory.  
The model used is based on the one used by the 
public administration. An exercise was carried out 
on equipment purchased, invoices and all details on 
purchased equipment, which include date of order, 
date asset is purchased, purchase order number 
and date of purchasing, quantity, description of 
asset, cost, and brand. In this way the IT inventory is 
regularly updated with all the necessary details.

Data Migration and Scanning Projects
As part of the website project, voluntary organisations 
documents are being scanned to eventually move to 
a digitalised working system. The IT Administration 
Officer is tasked with the merging of these documents 
from different folders and organising same in 
accordance with the file structure.

Conclusion
All the above-mentioned works shows the importance 
of IT in today’s business and digital age we live in. 
Technology is an important aspect in keeping the 
office running smoothly, as it is the main tool in the 
work of most employees and could be considered 
as one the main backbones in running the office. All 
the works carried out, were meticulously done in full 
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respect to GDPR, current Government procedures 
and the laws of Malta.

Overall, the IT Section was responsible for providing 
the infrastructure for automation. It implemented the 
governance for the use of network and operating 
systems and assisted the operational sections by 
providing them the functionality they needed.

Research
Research is an important tool for gaining knowledge, 
gathering updated information, helping in planning, 
building strategies, reforming policies, procedures 
and legislation, helping succeed in a venture and is a 
means to find, gauge and seize opportunities. 

With this in mind, this office started discussions with 
the University of Malta to conduct a research study 
to evaluate the voluntary sector in Malta. In this 
regard, the research will seek to understand how the 
voluntary sector is managed locally and in various 
foreign countries and to quantify the voluntary sector 
in Malta and Gozo, with a view to discovering best 
practices for taking the sector forward. 

This first phase of the research will:
i. aim to seek to understand general policies and 

procedures that are implemented in running the 

voluntary sector, and what specific strategies are 
adopted to bring about organisational growth to 
take the sector forward; 

ii. identify the characteristics of, and quantify the 
voluntary sector in Malta and Gozo; and 

iii. draw an evidence-based account of best 
practices in voluntary sector management and 
growth.

The second phase of the research will:
i. aim to seek to understand the services offered 

by the voluntary sector in Malta and discover 
whether these are replicated by services offered 
by the Maltese public service; 

ii. identify factors that can take the sector forward 
and transform it into a strong player within Malta’s 
civil society;

iii. make suggestion as to how the voluntary sector 
and public sector can collaborate to create 
synergies and offer a better service, and identify 
factors that need to be considered in light of the 
potential future landscape of the sector.

Work will continue in 2022 on this research study.

“In this regard, the research will seek to understand how 
the voluntary sector is managed locally and in various 
foreign countries and to quantify the voluntary sector in 
Malta and Gozo, with a view to discovering best practices 
for taking the sector forward. 
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“Eliminate the narrative of amateurism 
& start looking at voluntarism as a pillar 
that formed the Maltese society
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Our New Strategy
3

Programmes and Policy Implementation Unit
In August 2021, the new Commissioner, Mr. Jesmond 
Saliba was appointed as the third Commissioner of 
the OCVO.  This appointment undoubtedly, brought 
with it many exciting changes and challenges for 
years to come.

In fact, from the very onset, the OCVO, under the 
guidance of the new Commissioner, has embarked on 
several initiatives.  An internal re-structuring however 
first had to place, whereby the Commissioner’s 
Secretariat – The Programmes and Policy 
Implementation Unit was established.  The scope 
of this Unit in fact is to support the Commissioner, in 
carrying out and successfully implementing the said 
initiatives which have both the sector and society at 
large at heart.  Whilst other Directorates within OCVO 
have for long years assisted voluntary organisations 
with different aspects from pre-enrolment, enrolment, 
returns to be submitted yearly, as well as final winding 
up, amongst other services the OCVO offers, a new 
Unit was required within the OCVO.

The primary scope of the Unit is in fact, to support 
the Commissioner in the OCVO’s new or rather 
redefined, but likewise renewed purpose to reform 
the voluntary sector at large. 

For this to occur, an internal re-structure first had 
to take place, so that the OCVO could equip itself 
with the necessary team members that could focus 
wholeheartedly on the same reform.   The Unit, 
working closely with the Commissioner commenced 
by designing a new logo which reflected the OCVO 

and its renewed purpose, which is that of not merely 
regulating the sector but also ensuring that the sector 
is viewed and treated as one of the main socio-
economic pillars of Maltese society.

In this regard, the Unit immediately started working 
on a national reform, broadly entitled the VO 
Plus Convention, which was first launched at the 
President’s Palace, under the patronage of the 
President of Malta, His Excellency Dr. George Vella 
in December 2021.  The VO Plus Convention in fact 
is a national consultative journey we embarked on 
that together with all major stakeholders will not 
only see a new legislative framework but will aim 
to build a sustainable voluntary sector. The VO Plus 
Convention in fact, is not only helping the voluntary 
organisations, but also Malta, to understand and 
value how the sector is serving the country.  In this 
regard, this office has been holding various meetings 
with voluntary organisations and stakeholders across 
the board, to listen, understand and in turn be able to 
guide, strengthen and support, the latter three values 
being the core values of the OCVO.

One of the major projects of the Unit, and undoubtedly 
a very big part of the VO Plus Convention is in fact the 
project entitled VO First.  This project looks at offering 
voluntary organisations the possibility to benefit from 
support the OCVO can wholeheartedly offer, by 
being closer than ever to the voluntary organisations.  
In this regard, the Unit is looking at establishing 
a number of helpdesks within the Business First 
premises in Mriehel, so that a one-stop-shop service 
can be offered to voluntary organisations to get 
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the required assistance and support.  This is also in 
line with the once-only principle, where as much as 
possible, the OCVO will work hand in hand and in a 
complimentary fashion with other entities, with whom 
memorandum of understandings will be signed, so 
that there will be streamlining of documentation and 
information sharing as can be legitimately carried out, 
so that duplication of submission of documentation 
with different entities is avoided.

An extension of the VO Plus Convention and the 
beginning of change within the voluntary sector 
in our country, is 2 research projects we will be 
carrying out with the Faculty for Social Wellbeing 
and the University of Malta. The research projects 
will be carefully studying various aspects within the 
voluntary sector, and whilst being parallel to each 
other, will have their conclusions woven with a view 
to addressing the current and future needs of the 
voluntary sector and voluntary organisations.

Another research entered into to complement these 
2 pieces of research will be another research carried 
out with MIMCOL which will look at identification and 
analysis of the mission, vision and role of the OCVO, 
whilst reforming the OCVO internally to ensure that 
office values and needs emanating from laws and 
international standards are satisfied.  Simultaneously, 
discussions and an agreement are being entered 
into with MITA with respect to processing of 
information and use of technology within the OCVO, 
so that an appropriate creation of information flows 
can be established to avoid bureaucratic processes 
for voluntary organisations, and rather to provide 
solutions in this regard. Additionally, the Unit has 
already worked on establishing one centralised 
database register to be used as the only source of 
information within the OCVO to ensure that up-to-
date and current information is made available to 
the general public with respect to information to be 
made available for all.

Whilst the Unit is a relatively young one, the work 
carried out so far has been immense and it is of 
utmost pleasure for the Unit to work, and deliver for 
the good of the OCVO, the voluntary sector and most 
importantly Malta and society at large. As they say, 
a journey of a thousand miles, begins with a single 
step.  Our Unit is surely excited for each step of 
the way, we are yet to take, and we look forward to 
looking back, in a year’s time as we relish notable 
legislative and socio-economic changes within the 
voluntary sector and our Malta, rendering them even 
more sustainable. 

VO Plus
A national reform that will build a voluntary sector for 
Malta for today and tomorrow

Malta has a vibrant and strong voluntary sector, which 
has evolved and moved from one phase to another 
in recent years. This comprehensive evolution is 
evident and can be seen in the level of services 
that voluntary organisations provide to thousands 
of people in various niches. In addition, the scope of 
voluntarism in Malta has grown to the point where its 
roots can be found woven into almost every sector.

It is precisely because of these roots that have shaped 
Maltese society that we have reached a point where 
we must prepare the voluntary sector and voluntary 
organisations for the socio-economic needs of today 
and tomorrow.

In 2021, the OCVO wanted 5th December, International 
Volunteer Day, to be celebrated with a difference. For 
2021, the international theme for this international 
day was ‘Volunteer now for our common future’. That 
is why the OCVO saw how this year, more than past 
years, this important day would be celebrated and 
commemorated with the voluntary organisations at 
the center.

In fact, 4th December 2021 will remain a day in the 
history of the voluntary sector in our country. The 
OCVO, through the national VO Plus Convention, 
under the auspices of the President of Malta, His 
Excellency Dr George Vella, has embarked on a 
national consultation journey which together with all 
key stakeholders will not only see a new legislative 
framework, but we will aim to make the voluntary 
sector valued more in a sustainable way. In the words 
of the President of Malta, the reform of VO Plus 
should be a means for the sector to “help grow, with 
a modern legal framework that reflects both current 
and future work practices.”

Above all, the VO Plus Convention will look at how 
to bring together direct and indirect stakeholders so 
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that all, and every sector, can contribute to a strong 
voluntary sector. We must firmly believe in the great 
advantages that exist if different sectors recognise 
the differences between them, respect them and 
at the same time build on the similarities between 
them.

Through the VO Plus Convention, which has the 
prestigious stamp of the President of Malta, we 
will see that the voluntary sector is renewed with 
voluntary organisations and volunteers at the center 
of the change that we will all bring together, because 
our country deserves a strong voluntary sector.

VO First
VO First is a project aimed at simplifying the 
processes for all voluntary organisations throughout 
their lifetime whilst ensuring to honour all regulatory 
obligations. The aim is to safeguard and strengthen 
voluntary organisations and the voluntary sector in 
general.

This project followed the launch of VO Plus with its 
commitment to direct, guide and support the sector.
With this project we are consulting all involved 
parties within the public sector to identify common 
tasks and start implementing the sharing of data 
between different departments and entities so that 
we minimise unnecessary bureaucracy.

Putting at the centre of all, the voluntary organisations 
and their members, who dedicate their free time for 
the benefit of others is what we are doing.

Within this project, we are re-visiting all processes, 
organising meetings and giving presentations 
to the voluntary sector to educate about the 
office requirements while ensuring that voluntary 
organisations have the necessary good governance 
tools to conserve the work done by thousands of 
administrators for the benefit of the Maltese and 
Gozitan people.

The OCVO website will also be re-vamped making 
it more user-friendly, informative and inter-active, 
providing the users demo videos showing ‘how 
to’ do various things, including useful links and 
contacts.

The plans are also to set our own helpdesk at the 
Business First offices at Mriehel Industrial Estate so 
that all those administrators who have difficulties in 
using the digital platforms can set up an appointment 
with 1 of our officers who will guide them accordingly.

The ultimate mission of the OCVO is to give more 
visibility to the voluntary sector as well as to guarantee 
transparency and accountability of the voluntary 
organisations that compose it in the carrying out 
of their important work. In view of this, the OCVO 
is also the regulatory authority responsible for this 
sector with the aim of monitoring and supervising 
the activities of these voluntary organisations as 
well as supporting them.

“The ultimate mission of the OCVO is to give more visibility to 
the voluntary sector as well as to guarantee transparency and 
accountability of the voluntary organisations that compose it in 
the carrying out of their important work.
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Testimonials

Matthew Vella – Permanent Secretary
The contribution by volunteers in diverse aspects in 
society is priceless. In this regard, the Office of the 
Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations is to be 
commended on the continuous endeavours in order 
to continue the positive recognition of such positive 
contribution positively recognising such priceless 
contribution and thus further enhancing the service 
provided in the field of volunteering. 

In particular, such recognition was not only on a 
cosmetic level through the updating of the branding 
of the logo and the purpose of such Office, but 
through the launch of a thorough consultation 
process with the sector resulting in a unanimous 
agreement on the amendments necessary to the 
subsidiary legislations on public collection and 
charity shops. 

At the core, such amendments are supported by the 
values encapsulated within the ethos of such Office in 
giving its guidance, support and direction necessary 
in such field. Such vision has led towards the launch 
of an ambitious, but necessary Convention, VOPlus, 
in order to achieve a reform in the voluntary sector 
with a view of enhancing dialogue and collaboration 
between all stakeholders. Moreover, such 
achievements are providing further added value 
towards the support that the Public Service aims to 
provide to voluntary organisations whilst avoiding 
duplication or unnecessary bureaucracy. 

My augur for this Office is to continue with its 
endeavours in ensuring change to such an active 
sector in Maltese society.

Dr. Karen Zammit Southernwood - SportsMalta
I am pleased to have been asked to say a few words 
for publication in the annual report of the Office of 
the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations.

From the first months I was appointed as the 
first sports regulator more than a decade ago, 
I recognized that these organisations, which 
numbered more than three hundred, were almost 
all voluntary organisations, albeit most of them were 
not registered as such.

That is why I insisted that these organisations 
should be considered as voluntary organisations 
and automatically recognized by the Commissioner 
for Voluntatry Organisations once registered with 
the Malta Sports Council (later and so far, known 
as SportMalta). The aim behind this proposal was 
that through such recognition, sports associations 
would be able to benefit from funds allocated to 
voluntary associations without the need for double 
registration. For many years, this did not happen 
and therefore, sports associations continued to 
depend on assistance directly or indirectly provided 
by SportMalta or other Ministries and Departments, 
through SportMalta.

When the amendments to the Voluntary 
Organisations Act came into force in 2018, the 
need for collaboration between the Office of the 
Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations and 
SportMalta was automatically felt again, in particular 
due to the fact that at this time, any organisation 
was precluded from benefiting from any public 
funding, unless it was registered with the Office 
of the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations. 
Therefore, talks have begun between the two parties 
to synchronize between the sports regulator and 
the Commissioner’s office. I confess that we have 
not always reached compromises quickly. On the 
contrary, we have often had completely different 
views.

From the first week that the current Commissioner 
was appointed, things shaped into a full collaboration. 
This is probably because Mr Saliba has worked 
hard in the field of Sport and while he is aware of 
his role and the legislation he has to follow, he also 
understands the needs of sports associations and 
has full confidence in the sports regulator and the 
operations of the same office.

Therefore, while appreciating the work already done 
by this office, I look forward to further cooperation 
for the benefit of sports associations in terms of 
simplification of documentation, among others. Much 
has been done and much more needs to be done. I 
am convinced that with continuous dialogue we will 
get to the point where sports associations will benefit 
to the maximum from these processes.

I wish the Commissioner and his hardworking staff 
another year of hard work and productive ideas for 
the benefit of all voluntary organisations.
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Voluntary Organisations
As Voluntary Organisations face significant 
challenges in the years ahead the Office of the 
Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations (OCVO) is 
well placed to strengthen the culture of accountability 
and good governance within the sector. Together we 
look forward to achieving tangible results for society 
which will gain more credibility for VOs and facilitate 
innovation in the interest of all. – Claudia Taylor East 
– Solidarity and Overseas Service Malta (SOS Malta).

***

Throughout the past months VOs such as 
Fondazzjoni Sebħ were in doubt as to whether 
the new laws will have a negative impact on the 
systems. Nevertheless, such doubts were clarified 
with the support of the Public Collections and Charity 
Shops team within the OCVO. The Office was not 
only supportive in providing help to guide us to set 
up the system and ensure that it is aligned with the 
law but showed interest in learning about what we 
do and validate on how essential public collections 
and the opening of our charity shop is. This ensured 
a smooth upgrading of the systems which reflects 
transparency and adherence to the legal obligations. 
- Fondazzjoni Sebħ.

***

Over the past year we have had the opportunity 
to liaise with OCVO several times. Our overall 
experience with the office has been a positive one.  
We have always been given the guidance and 
advice we needed to better our practices and to 
continue serving our community in the best possible 
manner whilst remaining in full compliance with 
current public collection legislation. We are thankful 
for their support. – Hospice Malta.

***

On behalf of The Inspire Foundation I would like to 
thank the OCVO and the Public Collections (PC) and 
Charity Shops (CS) team for their support throughout 
the process of getting our Charity Shops in line with 
the new regulations. The Office’s support and that 
of the team made it much easier for us to come in 
line with the regulation and saved us a lot of time. As 
we all know time is money and this support resulted 
in us being more efficient and effective to align. 
Apart from this it was nice working with the PC and 
CS team who made us feel backed throughout the 
whole process. – The Eden and Razzett Foundation 
(INSPIRE).

***

The Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary 
Organisations has always been a valuable 
assistance to our voluntary organisation. Recently 
we also had the wonderful opportunity to share 
our difficulties with the Commissioner Mr Jesmond 
Saliba. Nowadays, volunteering is not just a 
hobby but a mission, which can sometimes be 
overwhelming. Therefore, more than ever, the help 
and support of the Office of the Commissioner 
for Voluntary Organisations is really needed for 
a voluntary organisation to succeed. – Għaqda 
Mużikali u Soċjali “Madonna tal-Karmnu”.

“As Voluntary Organisations face significant challenges in the 
years ahead the Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary 
Organisations (OCVO) is well placed to strengthen the culture 
of accountability and good governance within the sector. 



“Building a sector that reflects the realities of the VOs, 
& the needs of their beneficiaries
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Outreach 
4

Contact and communication with people are primary 
ingredients that keep a relationship alive. 

As an office we wanted to listen to their needs so that 
together we could address and alleviate the burden 
of these needs. At the same time, there was a need 
for stakeholders to give voluntary organisations, the 
tools they need to strengthen and protect themselves, 
their work and their thousands of beneficiaries. 

We have launched a process of meetings with 
voluntary organisations where we have explained 
the importance of governance and that lack of such 
could mean the collapse of voluntarism, one of the 
main socio-economic pillars that has shaped and 
continues to shape Maltese society.

Within a few months we dialogued with and listened 
to approximately 150 voluntary organisations from 
various fields.

During these meetings, the voluntary organisations 
agreed that an accountable and well-governed 
voluntary sector offers assurance and credibility 
that will further increase the esteem and trust of the 
Maltese people in voluntary organisations.

During the year we continued to strengthen the 
OCVO’s relations with the Malta Council for the 
Voluntary Sector (MCVS), with continuous meetings 
and collective work that reaches all and to further 
value the work done by thousands of voluntary 
organisations. Evidence of this was the basic 
agreement and balance that the OCVO, the MCVS, 
the legislator and the voluntary organisations 
established, to agree on the new amendments to 
the Subsidiary Legislation on Public Collections and 
Charity Shops.



“Preparing the Voluntary Sector 
to make the leap forward & be 
ready for the future
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Commissioner’s Report  
 
The Commissioner presents his report and the audited financial statements for the year ended  
31 December 2021. 
 
Principal activity 
 
The entity is engaged in regulating and monitoring the voluntary organisations in Malta. 
 
Review of the business 
 
During the year the entity had incurred a deficit of €105,114 and the commissioner expects that the present 
level of activity will be sustained in the foreseeable future. 
 
Commissioner 
 
The Commissioner of the entity who held office during the year was: 
 
Jesmond Saliba 
 
Statement of Commissioner’s responsibilities 
 
The Commissioner is required by the Voluntary Organisations Act, Cap. 492 to prepare financial statements 
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of each financial year and of 
the profit for that year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Commissioner is responsible for ensuring that: 
 
• appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgments and estimates; 
 
• the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union; 
 
• the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the entity will continue in business as a going concern. 
 
The Commissioner is also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the entity and to enable him to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Voluntary Organisations Act, Cap. 492.  He is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the entity, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Commissioner’s Report – continued  
 
Financial reporting framework 
 
The Commissioner has resolved to prepare the entity’s financial statements for the year ended  
31 December 2021 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union. 
 
Auditor 
 
A resolution to reappoint the firm Equis Assurance Limited as auditor of the entity will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jesmond Saliba 
Commissioner 
 
 
Registered address: 
Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations 
Block C, Beltissebh 
Floriana, FRN 1700 
Malta 
 
22 March 2022 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
         Notes 2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Revenue 2 1,355,297  691,500 
Administrative expenses  3 (1,472,170)  (500,434) 
          Operating (loss)/profit 
 

 (116,873)  191,066 
Other income 5 13,020  5,417 
Finance cost 6 (1,261)  - 
          (Deficit)/surplus for the year  (105,114)  196,483 
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Statement of Financial Position 
 
  As at 31 December 
           Notes 2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 7 1,976  3,953 
Property, plant and equipment 8 106,874  42,089 
Right of use assets 9 247,953  - 
            356,803  46,042 
          Current assets     
Trade and other receivables 10 2,989  138,465 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 346,923  429,901 
            349,912  568,366 
          Total assets  706,715  614,408 
               
EQUITY     
Retained reserve 11 472,877  577,991 
               
LIABILITIES     
Non-current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 12 168,870  - 
               
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 12 64,968  36,417 
          Total liabilities  233,838  36,417 
          Total equity and liabilities  706,715  614,408 
          The financial statements on pages 3 to 19 were authorised for issue by the Board of Commissioner on 
22 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jesmond Saliba 
Commissioner 

 OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER FOR VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS 
 Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021 

 

4 

Statement of Financial Position 
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           Notes 2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Intangible assets 7 1,976  3,953 
Property, plant and equipment 8 106,874  42,089 
Right of use assets 9 247,953  - 
            356,803  46,042 
          Current assets     
Trade and other receivables 10 2,989  138,465 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 346,923  429,901 
            349,912  568,366 
          Total assets  706,715  614,408 
               
EQUITY     
Retained reserve 11 472,877  577,991 
               
LIABILITIES     
Non-current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 12 168,870  - 
               
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 12 64,968  36,417 
          Total liabilities  233,838  36,417 
          Total equity and liabilities  706,715  614,408 
          The financial statements on pages 3 to 19 were authorised for issue by the Board of Commissioner on 
22 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jesmond Saliba 
Commissioner 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
      Retained  
      reserve Total 
      € € 
Retained reserve        
Surplus for the year      577,991 577,991 
                Balance at 31 December 2020      577,991 577,991 
                 
Balance at 1 January 2021      577,991 577,991 
Deficit for the year      (105,114) (105,114) 
                Balance at 31 December 2021      472,877 472,877 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
         Notes 2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Operating activities     
Cash generated from operations 13 40,693  101,164 
          Investing activities      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (93,671)  (51,420) 
Lease payment of right of use assets  (30,000)  - 
          Net cash generated from investing activities  (123,671)  (51,420) 
               
Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (82,978)  49,744 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  429,901  380,157 
          Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14 346,923  429,901 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
1. Accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
a. Basis of preparation 

 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and comply with the Voluntary 
Organisations Act, (Cap. 492).  The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  
 

i.  Use of estimates and judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
However, in the opinion of the commissioner, there are no areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements. 
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
ii. New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year 

 
Impact of the initial application of Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 – 
Amendment to IFRS 16 
 
In the prior year, the Company early adopted Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to 
IFRS 16) that provided practical relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a 
direct consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. This practical 
expedient was available to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affected 
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
 
In March 2021, the Board issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
(Amendment to IFRS 16) that extends the practical expedient to apply to reduction in lease payments 
originally due on or before 30 June 2022. 
 
In the current financial year, the Company has applied the amendment to IFRS 16 (as issued by the 
Board in May 2021) in advance of its effective date. 
 
The practical expedient permits a lessee to elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-related rent 
concession is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in 
lease payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession applying IFRS 16 as if the 
change were not a lease modification. 

 
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of 
COVID-19 and only if all of the following conditions are met: 

• The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change 

• Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 
(a rent concession meets this condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or before 30 
June 2022 and increased lease payments that extend beyond 30 June 2022) 

• There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
iii. New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective  

 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the following 
new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective and had not yet 
been adopted by the EU: 
 

 
IFRS 17 (including the June 2020 
amendments to IFRS 17) 

Insurance Contracts  

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture  

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-
current 

Amendments to IFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds 

before Intended Use 
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a 

Contract 
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 
2018-2020 Cycle 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, 
and IAS 41 Agriculture 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 

arising from a Single Transaction 
 

The commissioner does not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a 
material impact on the financial statements of the entity in future periods. 
 

b. Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue from application fees is recognised when full application is received from the applicant  
business and register. The entity also received a subvention from Ministry of Education and 
Employment.  
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
c. Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets comprise computer software. 
 
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software.  These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 4 years.  
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. 
 
Where an indication of impairment exists, in that the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount, a charge is made to write down the value of the asset to its 
estimated recoverable amount (Accounting policy (f)). 

 
d. Property, plant and equipment 
 
 Property, plant and equipment, comprising furniture and fixtures, computer equipment and air 

conditioner are initially recorded at cost and are subsequently stated at cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of items.   

 
 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the entity, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 

 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
• Furniture and fixtures 10% 
• Computer equipment 25% 
• Air conditioner 16.667% 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount, and are taken into account in determining operating profit.  

 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Accounting policy (f)). 
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
e. Lease 
  

The entity assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, at inception of the contract. The 
company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, 
small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the entity recognises the lease 
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased assets are consumed. 

 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, the entity uses its incremental borrowing rate. 
 
The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is 
determined based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; 
a country-specific risk adjustment; a credit risk adjustment based on bond yields; and an entity-
specific adjustment when the risk profile of the entity that enters into the lease is different to that of the 
entity and the lease does not benefit from a guarantee from the entity. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
•  Fixed lease payments (including in substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives   

receivable 
• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index 

rate or rate at the commencement date 
• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 

option 
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease 
 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect 
the lease payments made. 
 
The entity remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever: 

•    The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances 
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate. 
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
e. Lease – continued  
 

•   The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured 
by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the 
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised 
discount rate is used). 
 

•   A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate 
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified 
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective 
date of the modification. 

 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any 
initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-
of-use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset 
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease. 
 

f. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use.  

 
g. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value.  For the 
purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits 
held at call with banks. 
 

h.  Trade and other payables 
 
 Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 

ordinary course of business from suppliers.  Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within one year or less.  If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities 
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1.      Accounting policies – continued 
 
i. Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

 
2. Revenue 
 
 All the entity’s revenue is generated from the subvention from the government and application fees. 
 

 
3. Expenses by nature 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Notes 8 and 9) 61,635  12,648 
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 7) 1,977  1,977 
Staff costs (Note 4) 1,255,576  364,836 
Auditor’s remuneration 2,242  2,242 
Other expenses 150,740  118,731 
        Total administrative expenses 1,472,170  500,434 
     
Auditor’s fees 
 
Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial year ended 31 December 
2021 relate to the annual statutory audit. 

 
4. Staff costs 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    
Wages and salaries 1,164,778  336,566 
Social security costs 90,798  28,270 
         1,255,576  364,836 
      
Average number of full time equivalents employed by the entity during the year: 
 
 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    
Administration 64  13 
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5. Other income 
 

  2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Refunds received from MITA  -  5,397 
Miscellaneous income  630  20 
Other refunds  12,390  - 
          Total other income  13,020  5,417 
        

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   
 
6. Finance cost 
 

  2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Interest on lease liability  1,261  - 
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7. Intangible assets 
 

  Computer  
  Software Total 
  € € 
At 1 January 2020    
Cost  7,907 7,907 
Accumulated amortisation  (1,977) (1,977) 
          5,930 5,930 
            
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2020    
Additions  5,930 5,930 
Amortisation charge  (1,977) (1,977) 
        Closing net book amount  3,953 3,953 
            
At 31 December 2020    
Cost  7,907 7,907 
Accumulated amortisation  (3,954) (3,954) 
          3,953 3,953 
            
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2021    
Opening net book amount  3,953 3,953 
Amortisation charge  (1,977) (1,977) 
        Closing net book amount  1,976 1,976 
            
At 31 December 2021    
Cost  7,907 7,907 
Accumulated amortisation  (5,931) (5,931) 
        Net book amount  1,976 1,976 
         
Amortisation of €1,977 is included in administrative expenses.  
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8. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Furniture  Computer   
 and fixtures equipment Air Conditioner Total 
 € € € € 
     
As at 1 January 2020     
Cost 1,411 1,114 1,453 3,978 
Accumulated depreciation (141) (278) (242) (661) 
          Closing net book amount 1,270 836 1,211 3,317 
               
Movements for the year ended  
31 December 2020 

    

Opening net book amount 1,270 836 1,211 3,317 
Additions 5,791 45,629 -        51,420 
Depreciation charge (720) (11,686) (242)      (12,648) 
          Closing net book amount 6,341 34,779 969         42,089 
               
As at 1 January 2021     
Cost 7,202 46,743 1,453 55,398 
Accumulated depreciation (861) (11,964) (484) (13,309) 
          Closing net book amount 6,341 34,779 969 42,089 
               
Movements for the year ended  
31 December 2021 

    

Opening net book amount 6,341 34,779 969 42,089 
Additions 45,736 44,091 3,844 93,671 
Depreciation charge (5,294) (22,709) (883) (28,886) 
          Net book amount 46,783 56,161 3,930 106,874 
               
At 31 December 2021     
Cost 52,938 90,834 5,297 149,069 
Accumulated depreciation (6,155) (34,673) (1,367) (42,195) 
          Net book amount 46,783 56,161 3,930 106,874 
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9. Right of use assets 
 

     
   Air Conditioner Total 
   € € 
     
Movements for the year ended  
31 December 2021 

    

Additions   280,702      280,702 
Depreciation charge   (32,749)      (32,749) 
          Closing net book amount   247,953       247,953 
               
At 31 December 2021     
Cost   280,702 280,702 
Accumulated depreciation   (32,749) (32,749) 
          Net book amount   247,953 247,953 
           

 
10. Trade and other receivables 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    

Accrued income -  134,324 
Prepayments 2,989  4,141 
         2,989  138,465 
         

 
11. Retained reserve 

 
Retained reserve represent accumulated profits.  
 
 

12. Trade and other payables 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 

Non-current    
Lease liability 168,870  - 
         

 
 
 



54 OCVO Annual Report 2021

 OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER FOR VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS 
 Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2021 

 

18 

12. Trade and other payables – continued  
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 

Current    
Trade payables -  1,269 
Lease liability 53,093  - 
Other payables -  29,848 
Accruals  11,875  5,300 
         64,968  36,417 
         

1 
3.  Cash generated from operations 
 
 Reconciliation of operating (loss)/profit to cash generated from operations: 
 

 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    
Operating (loss)/profit (116,873)  191,066 
    
Adjustments for:    
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 7) 1,977  1,977 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 8)  28,886  12,648 
Depreciation of right of use asset (Note 9) 32,749  - 
Finance cost (1,261)  - 
Other income 13,020  5,417 
Present value of lease liability 168,870  - 
Present value of right of use assets (250,702)  - 
    
Change in working capital:    
Trade and other payables 28,551  28,521 
Trade and other receivables 135,476  (138,465) 
        Cash generated from operations 40,693  101,164 
     

 
14. Cash and cash equivalents 
  
 For the purposes of the statement of cashflows, the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

comprise the following:  
 2021  2020 
 €  € 
    
Cash at bank and in hand 346,923  429,901 
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15. Financial risk management 
 
Overview 
 
The entity has an exposure to the following risks arising from the use of financial instruments within its 
activities: 
 

• Liquidity risk 
 
This note presents information about the entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the entity’s management of capital.  Further 
quantitative disclosures are included in these financial statements. 
 
The responsibility for the management of risk is vested in the Board of Commissioner.  Accordingly, it is 
the Commissioner who has the overall responsibility for establishing an appropriate risk management 
framework. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.   
 
The entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due.  Generally, the entity ensures that it has sufficient cash 
on demand to meet expected operational expenditure, including the servicing of financial obligations. 

 
 Fair values 

 
At 31 December 2021 the carrying amounts of cash at bank, payables and accrued expenses reflected 
in the financial statements are reasonable estimates of fair value in view of the nature of these 
instruments and/or the relatively short period of time between the origination of the instruments and their 
expected realisation. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
To the Member of Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations (the entity), set 
out on pages 3 to 20, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 202, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the entity as 
at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU IFRSs) and have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Voluntary Organisations Act (Cap. 492). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of 
Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Voluntary Organisations Act (Cap. 492) in Malta, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other Matter 
 
The financial statements of the Office of the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations for the year ended 
31 December 2020 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 
16 February 2021. 
 
Other Information  
 
The commissioner is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the commissioner’s 
report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover this information, including the commissioner’s report. In 
connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
With respect to the Commissioner’s Report, we also considered whether the Commissioner’s Report includes the 
disclosures required by Voluntary Organisations Act (Cap. 492). Based on the work we have performed, in our 
opinion: 
 
▪ the information given in the commissioner’s report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 
 
▪ the commissioner’s report has been prepared in accordance with the Voluntary Organisations Act (Cap. 492). 
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▪ Independent Auditor’s Report – continued  
 
Other Information – continued  
 
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the commissioner’s report. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Commissioner 
 
The commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with EU IFRSs, and for such internal control as the commissioner determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the commissioner is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the commissioner either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. 
 

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Commissioner. 
 

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commissioner’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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▪ Independent Auditor’s Report – continued  
 
Other Information – continued  
 
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the commissioner’s report. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Commissioner 
 
The commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with EU IFRSs, and for such internal control as the commissioner determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the commissioner is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the commissioner either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. 
 

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Commissioner. 
 

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commissioner’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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▪ Independent Auditor’s Report – continued  
 
Other Information – continued  
 
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the commissioner’s report. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Commissioner 
 
The commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with EU IFRSs, and for such internal control as the commissioner determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the commissioner is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the commissioner either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. 
 

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Commissioner. 
 

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commissioner’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report – continued  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements – continued  

 
▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with the Commissioner regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Voluntary Organisations Act (Cap. 492) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 
▪ We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
▪ Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us. 
▪ The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 
 
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 
 
Other matter – use of this report 
 
Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior written consent. 
 
 
 
 
 
Lorraine Muscat 
Director 
 
For and on behalf of 
Equis Assurance Limited 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Nr. 11, “L-Ufficcji” 
Misrah 28 ta’ Frar 1883 
Birkirkara BKR1501 
Malta 
 
22 March 2022 
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▪ Independent Auditor’s Report – continued  
 
Other Information – continued  
 
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the commissioner’s report. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Commissioner 
 
The commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with EU IFRSs, and for such internal control as the commissioner determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the commissioner is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the commissioner either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. 
 

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Commissioner. 
 

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commissioner’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Income Statement 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
          2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Revenue  1,355,297  691,500 
Administrative expenses (page 25)  (1,472,170)  (500,434) 
          Operating profit 
 

 (116,873)  191,066 
Other income (page 26)  13,020  5,417 
Finance cost (page 26)  (1,261)  - 
          Surplus for the year  (105,114)  196,483 
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Administrative expenses  
 
  Year ended 31 December 
          2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Accountancy fees  3,186  - 
Advertising expenses  1,847  775 
Amortisation  1,977  1,977 
Auditor’s remuneration  2,242  2,242 
Bank charges  1,592  561 
Computer software expense  27,261  205 
Cleaning expense  2,171  277 
Data inputting services  11,125  10,994 
Depreciation  61,635  12,648 
Donation  1,500  - 
Legal expense  3,532  5,664 
Maintenance expense  4,814  114 
Other expenses  13,836  6,226 
Printing, postage and stationery  30,088  8,986 
Professional fees  23,049  64,081 
Repairs and maintenance  13,233  1,757 
Social security expenses  90,798  28,270 
Software subscription  741  4,105 
Telecommunications  2,031  570 
Training costs  -  508 
Travel expenses  47  49 
Wages and salaries  1,164,778  336,566 
Website expense  10,687  13,859 
          Total administrative expenses (page 24)  1,472,170  500,434 
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Other income 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
          2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Refunds received from MITA  -  5,397 
Miscellaneous income  630  20 
Other refunds  12,390  - 
          Total other income (page 24)  13,020  5,417 
           
 
Finance cost 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
          2021  2020 
  €  € 
     
Interest on lease liability (page 24)  1,261  - 
        

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  








